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Tuesday, April 26, 2016
--- On commencing at 9:38 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, everyone.  Please be seated.

We have a full house.

Good morning, everyone.  My name is Ken Quesnelle.  I will be presiding over today's proceeding, and with me on the Panel are Board members Cathy Spoel and Paul Pastirik.

The Ontario Energy Board has initiated a process to hear and consider the views of people who have an interest in the expansion of natural gas distribution facilities.

Today's proceeding was established in part to provide the opportunity for municipalities to describe their interests to the Board in person, and we are happy to have representations from five municipalities joining us this morning to do just that.

We will take the opportunity to discuss with you how to best make use of the hearing days that are scheduled to begin next Thursday.  But before I begin, I will take a few minutes to recap the events that have led us to being here together today.

The Ontario government's long-term energy plan, issued in 2013, indicated that it would look at opportunities to expand natural gas service to communities in Ontario that are not currently served.

On February 17th, 2015 the Ontario Minister of Energy, in a letter to the chair of the OEB, encouraged the OEB to examine opportunities to facilitate access to natural gas service to more communities.

The OEB issued a letter inviting parties with the appropriate technical and financial expertise to apply to the OEB for permission to build facilities that would connect communities to a natural gas system and propose options to address current regulatory barriers to expansion of natural gas distribution.

In response to the letter, Union Gas Limited filed an application in July 2015 seeking approval to provide natural gas service to certain communities.

Union proposed alternative approaches to recover revenues in order to meet its investment needs and requested approval for rate recovery for four specific projects and leave-to-construct approval for three of the four projects.

The Board determined that it would first address the proposed funding mechanism and that that consideration, in the -- related to leave-to-construct applications, would be dealt with later in the context of the Board's determinations on Union's proposed funding approaches.

The Board held a pre-hearing day on December 18th, 2015, where it heard from the different parties on the evidence that they expected to file and the relevance of that evidence to the proceeding.

Based on the submissions of the parties at the pre-hearing conference the Board determined that it would be better to proceed with a generic hearing because the issues that were raised by all the parties were common to all gas distributors and new entrants seeking to provide gas distribution services in communities that do not have access to natural gas.

The Board placed Union's application on hold until the completion of the generic hearing.  The Board issued a province-wide notice of hearing for the generic proceeding on February 5th, 2016.  A draft Issues List was included along with the notice.  The draft Issues List broadly defined the scope of the proceeding and identified the issues that would be considered in the generic proceeding.  Union's community expansion application and evidence form part of the record of this generic proceeding.

The Board issued Procedural Order No. 1 on February 10th that established a process and timelines for the parties to file comments on the draft Issues List, evidence, and discovery of the evidence.

The Board received a number of intervention requests from interested parties and municipalities.  The intervenors from Union's expansion application had been notified that their status as intervenors would be carried over to this generic proceeding.

The Board considered the comments on the Issues List and provided its decision on the scope of the proceeding and the provision of intervenor status to interested parties on March the 9th.  A hearing schedule was established, and as I mentioned at the outset, this pre-hearing conference was put in place to provide the opportunity for municipalities to describe their interests in person and also to develop a hearing plan and to come to a common expectation of provide -- that we will have for the oral hearing.

I will take appearances now, so anyone who is an intervenor and is here representing that person or body, if you could identify yourself and who you are representing.  We will start with Mr. King.
Appearances:


MR. KING:  Richard King, counsel to Parkland Fuels.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. King.

MR. CHARLES KEIZER:  Charles Keizer, counsel to Union Gas Limited, and with me is Mr. Chris Ripley, also of Union Gas.

MR. GORDON KAISER:  I'm Gordon Kaiser, counsel to EPCOR Utilities Inc.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Kaiser.

MR. BRETT:  Tom Brett, counsel for BOMA.

MR. MONDROW:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, Panel members.  Ian Mondrow, counsel for the Industrial Gas Users' Association, known as IGUA.

MR. QUINN:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, Panel members.  Dwayne Quinn on behalf of FRPO.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Quinn.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd on behalf of the Ontario Geothermal Association, and with me for most of this proceeding will be Martin Luymes, who is the case manager.

MR. ELSON:  Good morning, Kent Elson on behalf of Environmental Defence.

MR. JANIGAN:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, Michael Janigan on behalf of the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition, and with me is Mark Garner.

MR. CASS:  Fred Cass for Enbridge Gas Distribution.  On my left from Enbridge are Steve McGill and Joel Denomy.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Cass.

MS. DeMARCO:  Elisabeth DeMarco on behalf of GreenField Specialty Alcohols.  With me is John Creighton of GreenField and Kerry Ferguson.  I am also here on behalf of Anwaatin, which is a collection of seven First Nations.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. DeMarco.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Good morning, Michael Buonaguro, counsel for the Consumers Council of Canada, and not here today but appearing throughout the hearing will be Julie Girvan.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. AIKEN:  Randy Aiken, consultant for the London Property Management Association.

DR. HIGGIN:  Good morning, Roger Higgin, consultant to Energy Probe, and with me is Brady Yauch of Energy Probe.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Higgin.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning, Panel.  Mark Rubenstein, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. VELLONE:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  John Vellone, counsel for the Municipality of Kincardine, the Municipality of Arran-Elderslie, and the Township of Huron-Kinloss, collectively the South Bruce municipalities.

MS. BRAZIL:  Good morning.  Laura Brazil and Mike Richmond for the Canadian Propane Association.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. ROSENFELD:  Bill Rosenfeld on behalf of Northeast Midstream.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Are you able to pick that up?  If people could come forward to be a microphone it would be helpful for the court reporter.

MR. ROSENFELD:  Mr. Chairman, good morning.  Bill Rosenfeld on behalf of Northeast Midstream.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, sir.

MR. WOON:  Good morning, Robert Woon, Ontario Sustainable Energy Association.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. CHISULO:  Good morning, Phillip Chisulo with the IESO.

MR. MELCHIORRE:  Nick Melchiorre, here on behalf of NOACC, NOMA, and Common Voice Northwest.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning.

MR. MILLAR:  And good morning, Mr. Chair, members of the Panel.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  With me today are Mr. Khalil Viraney and behind me Mr. Colin Schuch, Mr. Jason Cameron, and Ms. Pascale Duguay.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar.

Now, unless someone has any preliminary matters they'd like to discuss, our intent today was to hear from the municipalities that have come to make presentations in person, and I have a list here that I will start at the top and see if people are available this morning for that.

So any comments or any questions from anyone as to how we will proceed for the day?  Subsequent to the presentations I think we will open it up to talk about procedural issues and how we're -- to -- towards setting up a hearing plan, which will be, you know, talking about the -- a lot of cross-examination, how much it will take you to assess whether or not you are going to let us know what your plan is as far as cross-examination, so just so people are thinking about that.  That is the intent of the morning.

Okay?  Can we have Norfolk County, as identified as wanting to give a presentation.  I believe Mr. Jim Oliver?

We have a seat down here for you, Mr. Oliver.  If you would like to come down and take a seat at the end of the front row here with the microphone there.

Just a message to the municipalities.  I really appreciate you coming in from across Ontario.  As I mentioned earlier, a notice went out on an Ontario-wide basis.  Typically, with something as important as these matters are to your communities, we would come and see you.  These are the types of things that with leave to construct and major occurrences, the Board is becoming more interested in being in the community itself.  But obviously, with a province-wide interest in this, it makes more sense for us to come to us because we can accomplish it here all in the same day.

But with actual leave to constructs and those sorts of things, we are looking more and more at visiting your communities.  So we much appreciate you coming to ours today.

Mr. Oliver, there is a button there and the green light will come on if the microphone is on.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Try again.

MR. OLIVER:  There.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you, Mr. Oliver.
Presentation by Mr. Oliver:


MR. OLIVER:  Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman and members of the Panel, Staff and ladies and gentlemen.

I very much appreciate this opportunity to provide our brief comments to you regarding the generic OEB hearing 2016-0004.

Just by way of very, very brief background, Norfolk County, as I hope you are aware, is a single-tier municipal government on the north shore of Lake Erie and southwestern Ontario, south-east of London, south of Brantford, southwest of Hamilton, within the Norfolk Sand Plain, as it is called.

We are very pleased that Norfolk County has been acknowledged as an intervenor in this above matter and would be -- are happy to provide our following information as a summary of our input and evidence.

Parts of our county are in fact serviced with natural gas by Union Gas and other service providers.  Where natural gas is available to residents, businesses, farm operations, and industry, it provides an economical and relatively green source of heat and, in some cases, fuel that contributes greatly to the viability of financial security of the residents and the viability of the businesses, farms or industry in question.

However, there are also many rural and hamlet areas of our county that are not yet serviced by natural gas, and that are suffering accordingly.

Of particular note in this regard is the Lakeshore resort community of Turkey Point, which coincidentally happens to be within my ward, the portion of Norfolk County that I represent as a councillor.

This community is home to approximately 100 year-round residential properties, more than 650 seasonal cottage residences, a number of small commercial and retail businesses, and one large marina operation, the McDonald Turkey Point Marina.

The farming area surrounding Turkey Point is a thriving agricultural area of our county, also featuring new businesses such as wineries and eco-adventure venues.

This area, however, of Norfolk County is unserviced with natural gas, and has suffered economically as a result.  Cottage and homeowners are faced with high heating costs, electricity, heating oil or propane, which also affects property values.

Tourism and service businesses in and near Turkey Point are also facing higher energy costs, and are less able to afford expansions to their businesses.

The McDonald Turkey Point Marina in particular and its patrons face very significant costs for heating in the form of propane and energy, of course, in the form of electricity, including -- and this is perhaps somewhat unique to that area -- reliability issues for electricity supply, and they have been prevented from expanding their business due to limited electricity supply from Hydro One.

Union Gas, as you have pointed out, Mr. Chair, has proposed to bring natural gas services in the context of its application to the OEB.

The corporation of Norfolk County continued – sorry, supported and continues to support Union Gas in its application to the OEB.  And to be specific, on August 25th of last year, county council passed the following motion which I would like to read to the Panel.

The motion is that Norfolk County supports the application of Union Gas to the Ontario Energy Board seeking approval for new approaches for expanding access to natural gas to rural and small communities, particularly Turkey point and Forestville within Norfolk County, including support for the use of an incremental tax equivalent mechanism to facilitate municipal support for a project.  And further, that Norfolk County provide comments to the provincial government on the proposed natural gas access loan and natural gas economic development grant program prior to the September 18th deadline.

I would mention anecdotally, Mr. Chair, in addition to the support for their proposal for a tax – an incremental tax equivalent mechanism, I can tell you that Union Gas surveyed many, many of the seasonal and year-round residents in the Turkey Point community and, as part of their questioning of those residents, they asked them about their support for a temporary surcharge, if they became new customers of Union Gas as a result of a project being undertaken.  And the vast majority of property owners indicated that they do support that as a cost recovery mechanism.

While Norfolk County acknowledges the intention of the OEB to address matters relating to the Union Gas application in a generic sense as it relates to all service providers, we urge and request the OEB to act as quickly as possible in returning to the specific application by Union Gas and to approve such application.  Time is of the essence for farmers, residents, cottage owners and small business owners of our Turkey Point area.

Indeed, the McDonald Turkey Point Marina, a corporation, has plans to undertake an electricity co-generation project using natural gas as a fuel source to serve both its needs, the needs of its patrons, and the provincial grid as soon as natural gas becomes available.

Norfolk County has no objection, and in fact supports the list of issues that are included in schedule B for this hearing as contained in the March 9th, 2016 document.  And in fact, we support the addition of issues number 10 and number 11 around the proposed cap and trade program, and number 12 regarding the recently announced loan and grant program.

We appreciate the opportunity to be part of this hearing and look forward to its up coming hearing dates.  We will, of course, wish to stay involved in the process for the balance of this time.

So thank you very much.  Those are my comments.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Oliver.  Any questions?  Thanks again, Mr. Oliver.

MR. OLIVER:  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Next on my list here we have the Municipality of Sioux Lookout.  We have both the two seats available for you down here, gentlemen.

We have Doug Lawrence, the Mayor, and Patrick Boileau, the advisor.  Mr. Boileau, thank you.  Good morning, Your Worship.
Presentation by Mr. Lawrence:


MR. LAWRENCE:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, Panel and other members present.  Thank you very much for hearing us today.  My name is Doug Lawrence, I'm the mayor of Sioux Lookout.  With me is Patrick Boileau, our advisor from North Vista Advisors, and in the audience is Vicki Blanchard, our economic development officer.

I will provide some background information on our community and explain our interest in this proceeding, and Mr. Boileau will walk through specific comments related to the proceeding.

So Sioux Lookout is located halfway between Winnipeg and Thunder Bay, 65 kilometres north of the TransCanada Highway and the TransCanada pipeline.

We are a hub community serving one-third of the area of the Province of Ontario, 350,000 square kilometres serving 33 First Nation communities.  Our airport is busier on a per capita basis than Pearson and the Island airport combined, with 120,000 passenger movements per year, which is 20 per capita versus eight per capita for Pearson and the airport combined.  So it gives you an indication of our hub activities.

We're on the mainline of the CNR, a divisional point on the CNR, and we're central in the development -- the soon to be developed Ring of Fire.  We will be at the western terminus of the – well, it used to be called the east-west and we're calling the west-east, because all- weather roads that are required to develop during a fire will start out of Sioux Lookout.  And the primary reason for development of that might be the service of all-weather roads to the northern First Nation communities which are now largely remote access communities.

We have in Sioux Lookout three mining companies of interest.  Noront Resources came to Sioux Lookout last summer.  They're the key player in the ring of fire and they have had their heads turned, and Sioux Lookout would be their central service point for servicing the ring of fire -- their Ring of Fire activities.

Rockex Mining is located about 100 kilometres north of Sioux Lookout, and they're looking at bringing in iron ore development through a slurry pipeline to Sioux Lookout, and Tamaka Gold is located between the existing TransCanada pipeline and Sioux Lookout, and they are in development stages.

So we're the last large northern Ontario community with a population of 6,000 in a densified urban core, remote but not rural.  We are densified urban core, the last large northern Ontario community without natural gas service.

Recent developments in 2010, the province, through a four-party agreement with the feds, the municipality, and Nishnawbe-Aski Nation, opened a $130 million hospital in Sioux Lookout which services the communities to the north.  It is the primary economy of Sioux Lookout.  It is the backbone of the economy now, employing 425 people.

We have lumber activity out of the Hudson Mill, and they're looking at biomass activity.  We're an education and training centre for the north.  A new $30 million high school will be built this year in Sioux Lookout.  Construction starts in the summer.

Watay Power Line, which is over about a billion-dollar expansion of a hydro grid to the north, is in its development stages, and that is key to Sioux Lookout.  Sioux Lookout is involved in that.  The municipality itself owns both our hydro corporation and our airports, operating both.

Comparatively, we have much higher energy costs than the rest of the province.  Without natural gas the primary services for heating in the winter are fuel, oil, and electricity.  Some people take advantage of wood.

Lower household incomes throughout northern Ontario prevail, which makes it difficult.  Our district service board has social housing that is largely based on the old system of electric heat, which -- the funding for them is the same as if it were for a city that had natural gas.  So a lot of the De-Disev funding gets eaten up with the electricity costs.

So it is a high impact.  We're a community with what many communities around us don't have.  We have jobs, a high employment rate.  But we have a problem in attraction and retention because of the high cost of heating due to natural gas.

A growing community.  We have been -- for 30 years, despite ups and downs in the global economy, Ontario's economy, the national economy, Sioux Lookout has never faltered.  Housing prices have never gone down.  They've always steadily climbed.  Our housing prices are on par with Thunder Bay.

Employment, again, the unemployment rate is low.  I think it is close to 4 percent.  If you want to work in Sioux Lookout you are, but again we have a high transient population because of the cost to live in Sioux Lookout, and natural gas being a key factor there.

So we support the changes to the rules to make natural gas expansion more viable, and we believe Sioux Lookout is a prime candidate for natural gas expansion.

And I will let Patrick fill in some details now.
Presentation by Mr. Boileau:


MR. BOILEAU:  Thanks, Mayor.

So as he mentioned, my name is Patrick Boileau.  I am not a lawyer, and I don't have the same level of regulatory expertise as most people in this room, but I do draw on many experiences helping develop the Red Lake gas pipeline project, which was the last major expansion, in working with the Municipality of Red Lake and Goldcorp.

And I would like to go back to the Ontario policy objective that led to this proceeding, and I know we went over it, but it is important because it frames many of our comments, and I will read it again:

"The Long Term Energy Plan states the government will work with gas distributors and municipalities to pursue options to expand natural gas infrastructure to service more communities in rural and northern Ontario."

And then once again the Minister of Energy sent the letter to the OEB, referencing rural and northern Ontario.

So as the Municipality of Sioux Lookout has observed this proceeding, we have grown concerned that most of the references during this proceeding are to communities not currently served, to rural and remote communities, and also rural and small communities.

We believe these references and the direction of the hearing do not directly address the government's objective, which clearly identified the specific needs of expanding access to natural gas in northern Ontario, and there's a reason we think that was included in the long-term energy plan, and that was due to the advocacy of many municipalities in northern Ontario, many of whom are here or represented here today.

So we ask the Board that when they consider proposed regulatory changes, these regulatory changes should achieve the specific government objectives, such as the expansion of natural gas in northern Ontario.

Next I would like to talk about the definition of a community in the context of this proceeding.  Union Gas stated that its proposal is intentionally focused on small towns, villages, hamlets, due to the higher density of customers as compared to more rural settings.

Union Gas defined the threshold as 50 homes or businesses, and I believe Enbridge also used the same threshold.

In general, we believe this will only require two- or four-inch plastic pipe.  Now, this may create natural gas expansion for some of these small extensions, but we don't believe it will create the needed pipeline infrastructure to enable access to natural gas for other customers or large communities or enable future economic development in these hubs.

We believe the natural gas expansion initiative should focus on larger communities with larger lateral pipelines, such as six- or eight-inch pipelines, as this would facilitate future expansion and follow on pipeline development.

So we believe the definition of "community" should be higher than the threshold of 50 customers.

Next I would like to talk about the need for an inclusive planning process.  So to date community expansion planning by the incumbent distributors has been at a desktop level only.  Union Gas stated in their evidence that they used a series of high-level assumptions based on economic indicators.

Union developed a list of 100 communities and Enbridge a list of 39 communities.  So we're concerned about how these lists will be used based on the fact that they were developed on these high levels of assumptions and without really the participation of the municipalities.

The Municipality of Sioux Lookout believes that these lists and this analysis should not be used to assess the viability or the prioritization of projects where funds for community expansions may be limited.

So I would like to use an example, and of course we're here with Sioux Lookout, so I will use Sioux Lookout as an example.  Sioux Lookout proper is only 65 kilometres from the pipeline and the population of close to 6,000.

By way of comparison, the Red Lake gas pipeline was 58 kilometres, so a similar distance and a similar size community.  The actual cost of the Red Lake gas pipeline was $44 million.  In Union Gas's list of 100 communities, Sioux Lookout was aggregated with surrounding communities for a total cost of $134 million.  And as such we ended up on number 69 on Union Gas's list.

So this comparison basically demonstrates how Union Gas's assessment was a high level only and should not be used to assess the true feasibility of the project.

I mentioned utilities may have a limited capacity to carry out the expansion due to portfolio or funding limits.  Enbridge has proposed $410 million in capital costs and Union Gas 135 million.  We're well over 500 million.  So clearly there will be a competition for capital.

We think it is critical that the Board define a planning and implementation process related to natural gas expansion.  Union Gas and Enbridge and any other distributors should work in cooperation with municipalities as part of this planning, and I know there's a renewed regulatory framework for electricity planning that was recently put in place, and as part of that framework there is consideration for regional planning.

I don't understand all the details in there, but perhaps some of the experiences from the regional planning and the RRFE could be used in developing a planning framework for natural gas expansion.

Next are some specific comments on EBO 188 exemptions or any other mechanisms that should be considered in this proceeding.  The Municipality of Sioux Lookout supports the following:  Portfolios and projects with PIs less than 1 or .8 respectively, cross-subsidization across utilities, longer revenue horizons and customer forecast periods, use of minimum design cost.

In addition -- and we don't completely understand this, but we do understand that the utilities do have regional rates, such as a Union Gas north rate.  So one of our points is that there shouldn't be any regional restrictions in terms of any investment projects being put on a certain regional rate base, because if you are in the north and there is a northern rate base there is not much of a rate base to share the costs.  Obviously this is an issue under cross-subsidization, but it is something that we thought should be considered.

In the transmission system code there is a sunset clause which allows for the recovery of capital if future customers join on to, I guess, a transmission project.  But using this for natural gas we think would make sense.  If a project is built and within 15 years a large customer joins, then there should be a payback or a refund to the original customers that paid for the project.

We support the establishment of customer surcharges.  However, we think there should be a little caution around this, as it can impact uptake, and there was evidence of this in Parry Sound, and the idea was rejected in Red Lake.

And we do support the idea of a natural gas expansion reserve or fund.  It's been proposed as part of this hearing.  It could be a good mechanism, but once again we question how this fund would be administered, and we believe any funds should have objectives, goals, that are aligned with the provincial objective; i.e., including the objective of expanding natural gas in northern Ontario.

Next I would like to talk about public interest factors, and this is fairly short and to the point.  The public interest factors should include energy cost savings, the impact affordability of energy costs, and I think many people have talked about that, environmental benefits, such as avoided emissions and fuel spills.  Safety; up in the north, there is a lot of fuel oil and wood-burning and there’s safety issues and liability issues around these forms of energy that should be taken into consideration.

There's also the local benefit to the municipality and its ability to attract and retain businesses.  The GDP impact, projected employment impact from the project, and finally, First Nation support.

And then the last point is around distributor competition.  The municipality of Sioux Lookout supports mechanisms that would provide greater flexibility and competition towards carrying out these community expansions.  We think it would increase options and, in the end, it would reduce costs.

The municipality of Sioux Lookout has had interest from other pipeline companies in terms of building the project, so clearly there is an interest in building these projects.

 So those are our specific comments, and I will turn it back to the Mayor for any potential closing comments.

MR. LAWRENCE:  I’d just like to say Sioux Lookout is a health and education centre.  Both the healthcare and education sectors are impacted by having no natural gas. The funding doesn't change for the hospital, whether you have to use electricity to heat all of the systems or natural gas.  So the per-bed funding impacts healthcare -- the lack of natural gas impacts healthcare as it does the education facilities.

I would just close on a note that Sioux Lookout is a progressive community.  We have been on a growth curve for 30 years, continue to grow steadily, and with the opening up of the First Nations in the north, we will continue to do so.

The Federation of Community Municipalities two years ago awarded Sioux Lookout.  In a competition across the country, we were one of six communities awarded a municipal First Nation project, and that’s -- resulting in a regional distribution centre for distribution of food to the northern communities.

And recently we were awarded -- one of five cities to be awarded diverse forces for change in company with Edmonton, London, Ottawa -- sorry, Montreal and Halifax, and the fifth one being Sioux Lookout.  So don't look at all of the dots on the map in the north and think they're all the same.  They're all quite different and one of the differences in Sioux Lookout is we don't have natural gas, and we would like to have it.

 I appreciate your time today.  Thank you very much.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much.  Thank you again, Mr. Boileau, Your Worship.

Okay.  We have someone from the municipality of East Ferris.  We have the mayor, Bill Vrebosch.

MR. VREBOSCH:  As long as you don't call me late for supper.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, Your Worship and Pauline Rocheford, deputy mayor.

MR. VREBOSCH:  I have some bedtime reading for you.  Do you want me to pass it out to you now?

(Documents passed to the Chair and Board members)
Presentation by Mr. Vrebosch:


MR. VREBOSCH:  There is a drastic difference between the two of us.  Pauline is my deputy mayor.  I say I am usually the headlines, and she is the meat of the project.  So we’ll probably follow that.

 My name is Mr. Vrebosch, and I have served East Ferris as a mayor and a deputy mayor since 1977.  Hazel, even, I think I got her beat.

[Laughter]

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good for you.

MR. VREBOSCH:  Along with my position as a mayor, I also sit in the rural caucus and the Rural Interior Municipal Association, and recently I have been asked to take hold of a group of under 6,000 population municipalities in Ontario.  We're trying to see if -- how far we want to take that one.  But there is a group feeling they're not being paid attention to.

Now I wish to congratulate the provincial government and his program that will bring natural gas to rural communities such as East Ferris.  Contrary to many small rural and northern communities, East Ferris continues to grow.  When I started in 1977, the population was around 1800; we're now pushing 5,000.

We are also facing the dilemma shared by many other rural municipalities.  We have a very limited tax base that forces most of our expenses directly onto the residential taxpayers.

We know natural gas will bring industrial and commercial expansion to East Ferris.  We have done the homework.

We can speak with authority on this subject because - in the books I’ve just handed you, you have studies that we have done.  We have asked our residents.  We know that natural gas and the connectivity we need will prove to be the catalyst for our future development.

There is a consequence to, I guess, what is happening generally in the province of Ontario right now.  Without natural gas, we will be forced to shelve some of our asset management plans, and these are the plans that the government has put forward to bring forth predictable and sustainable communities that are able to look after themselves.

I can't keep going back to the pocketbook of people with these high energy costs.  Some have said that -- and I don't know if this is part of this program, but one of the ones you mentioned, well, if you get it in your area, somebody else has to pay for the subsidy difference.

 I bring you back to the gas that I put in my tank every day.  I'm subsidizing somebody for 15 cents a litre every time I put it in there.  I get nothing back for that.  I have been after the Ontario government to get part of the gas tax for years.

I think natural gas, to me, is the perfect way to help some of these small municipalities.  The taxpayer only has so much money.  If we can reduce some of the costs they have to put out, we can help them a little bit.  They can afford to pay a little bit more.

But I think in East Ferris, we're kind of a conundrum. The gas line runs right through our community, and we have none.  It runs right beside Callander.  We're right near the stream, and we can't get it.

What we call the Astorville project is the perfect example and the poster child for this program.

We know the logistics; we have done our homework.  We know how to finance the project and the Ontario government’s assistance will make this thing a success story.

 At this point, I am going to stop talking, because I could go for days -- and I guess that's why they keep me there.

I will turn it over to Pauline Rocheford, who’s got a banking and business background.  She has retired out of that, and I am very fortunate to have her sitting on my council as my deputy mayor because, as I said, I'm the headlines and she does the work underneath.
Presentation by Ms. Rochford:


MS. ROCHEFORD:  On behalf of our mayor and all of the citizens of East Ferris, we would like to thank you, Panelists and Members of the Ontario Energy Board, for inviting us to come and share our interest in these hearings.  We appreciate that opportunity.

Just to add to what our mayor has said, a snapshot about East Ferris.  We are a bilingual community and we have two main villages, Astorville and Corbeil, two francophone historical villages.

We're located east of North Bay, and have always been known in Ontario as the gateway to the north.

East Ferris in particular is at the crossroads of Highways 17, 11 and 94.  That's our claim to fame, to some extent.

As our mayor has said, we're a growing municipality where our population is nearing 5,000 and we have about 2,200 households.  And we say in the north, like Sioux Lookout, that we are a growing northern community.  We're adding about 25 new homes a year and about sixty new residents a year.

And often as the new residents come to our community, sometimes from Ottawa region or from Toronto, the GTA, often they come asking for natural gas, whether it is a service that is provided in our community.

And we believe this is a request that will continue to grow as we have just put forward a new official plan for the municipality that is very pro-development.

And so in a nutshell, what is our interest in these East Ferris in these hearings?  Well, as is Astorville, the project is known as one of the 29 Union Gas projects under the heading of Astorville, Astorville.

And it is there because it is important to our residents, to our businesses, and to our council, our municipality.

And we are here today because we want to express our concern.  If there are any delays, that certainly would affect the interest our citizens have in this particular opportunity.  And we're also concerned that through these hearings there might be tightening of the funding model that has been put forward by Union Gas.

And so that is our interest.

A few words about why natural gas is important to East Ferris.  As our mayor has said, for years we have watched natural gas flow south through the TransCanada gas pipeline.  For us, it is only five kilometres away.  And over the years our community has tried to connect to natural gas, but to no avail.

Yet the community has continued to grow, and last fall in as Astorville, the provincial government funded a new school, Ecole St-Thomas-D'aquin, and moved into a new ten-million-dollar school due to the growing demand for Francophone education.  The school's heating and cooling system was designed to facilitate conversion to natural gas.

Also, next to the school is the municipality's community centre, and it also underwent recently a renovation, a fairly major renovation project, that was funded mainly through the reserves of the municipality, and it was also -- it also included system expenditures to ease conversion to natural gas.

And so these are but two examples of the impact that the Ontario Energy Board's decision will have on our community.

We believe in the role of the Ontario Energy Board as a guardian of the public interest.  Similarly to what you have done with the program, the Ontario electrical support program, where you are bringing relief to low-income households, we come to you under this particular facet of the Ontario Energy Board.

You should know that when this program was released by the Ontario Energy Board our Mayor was, I think, probably in Ontario one of the first ones to bring forward the literature and say we have to make sure we get this information in the hands of all of our citizens, as we viewed it as very important.

In East Ferris we recognize that energy is the life blood of our community, and that's why for years our citizens have been asking for natural gas.

Now, in the kits that we brought before you we have two documents that indicate the survey work that's been done in our community.  In 2013 the citizens expressed their interest for natural gas.  When the municipality researched and released its economic development strategy and facilities master plan -- and we have put some bullets to highlight some of those comments.

Again, more recently, the citizens' voice was heard as part of the East Ferris business retention and expansion program that included a survey, and it is also included in your report, and we have put coloured tabs there.

I say this particular program is important because, in Ontario, it is one of the acclaimed economic development programs for rural areas, and it falls under the Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs.  At its heart it is a program that enables the community to survey local businesses and to plan how to enable them to thrive and to grow, to add jobs, and to avoid failing, as we know all of the consequences of that.

So we in East Ferris, we believe that it is better to pay close attention to the problems, to the issues of our businesses, of our companies, as they face them, rather than after the fact.

And so you will see that as part of that survey, the top three issues that came forward from our business community, one was, as our Mayor said, the lack of access to affordable Internet, number two was the high cost of electricity, and number three was the lack of affordable natural gas.

Now, when we were -- as we were preparing for this meeting -- and certainly we're a small community, so the word circulates, and many of the surveyed participants voiced their support to our presence here today and provided letters of support, and these were sent to the Ontario Energy Board as part of our March 18th submission, and so they're included in there if you would like to see them.

But certainly they're there because our business community has a firm belief that it is cheaper to heat and cool with natural gas.  And I say they speak from experience because these businesses feature usage of a variety of fuels, including, obviously, electricity, oil, propane, geothermal, biomass, and geo-fuel systems.

Now, when discussing with them, we just returned from the ROMA and OGRA conference where our Premier spoke of the cap-and-trade program, as did Union Gas, and the potential impacts on gas prices.

And so when we went back to our community, as our businesses were remitting their letters, we spoke to them of, now, the uncertainty that is facing us with respect to pricing gas by current gas prices.

Through this process we've tried to do our work.  We have gone to our Union Gas.  We have gone to our Member of Parliament.  We have gone to the Canadian Gas Association reports, such as the ICF International report and we have read many of the great comments that were provided by the intervenors, BOMA in particular, over some of these issues.

I would say overall it is fair to say that we're not sure of the full picture as we come to this table, and so we look to you, the Ontario Energy Board, again as the guardian of the public interest to help us understand as we go through this process.

But I would say that overall as Canadians, Ontarians, we come as well with the belief that natural gas is a bridge fuel, positioned between the fossil fuel-dominated economy of the past, and the future, zero-carbon economy based on renewables.

But however, as our Premier said, Prime Minister Trudeau said last week after signing the Paris Climate Treaty, he said fossil fuels, when he spoke at a local high school on the same day, he said fossil fuels aren't going away tomorrow.  They're going to be here for many, many, many years.

And so that is our -- basically our understanding of the situation.  So we look to you to help us understand, but we also look to you to help us with our request for energy diversification because, as we spoke with our businesses, they said, fine, but there is also non-monetary issues that are equally important to us.  And we live in a changing world.  It has become very volatile in the energy marketplace.  And so for them, they spoke about maybe the need for many more options.  Maybe it is time for us to have options, as many as we can have, to ensure energy diversification.

Someone said, just like my investment portfolio, it is important that we diversify to avoid volatility and risk.  And someone spoke, he said at a micro level our country has sought for years the diversification of energy markets to reduce our risk of trading solely with the United States, and someone said -- someone had read a report, the future of the Canadian energy policy, they did their homework, and where C.D. Howe Institute spoke of getting Canadian energy to world markets will remain a key priority for 2016.  So someone said what's good for the goose is also good for the gander, I think is how the expression goes.  So we recognize that we're a micro level, we're a small community, but we believe we also have a right to diversification as a business strategy.

At a municipal level, creating a successful future for East Ferris is our council's priority, as our Mayor has said, and that is to enable growing our commercial tax base, but it is also to enable the efficient operations of our municipal assets.

And so this particular project, Astorville, would enable us to convert some of our municipal assets, our community centre, our arena, our curling club, our library, our fire station, that are currently using oil, propane, and electricity.

As the Mayor has said, overall I would say, I think it is fair to say that East Ferris -- the provincial government considers East Ferris to be a well-run municipality.  We have a comprehensive asset management plan that is updated annually.  We have a long-term capital funding and financing policy.  We have a debt management policy, a reserve fund policy, and we continue to invest.  Even though times are difficult, we are investing this year in a new municipal garage, in roads, and so we're investing.


But we're also facing challenges.  We have a deteriorating municipal office that every spring takes on two feet of water, we have a significant environmental spill in one of our core villages, but regardless of that, our citizens are proud to say that we fully assume our financial responsibilities, with the only confirmed provincial subsidy in 2016 being $25,000 from the Ontario Community Infrastructure Fund.

And so as our Mayor has said, there is limits to how much we can ask our taxpayers, as the municipal tax levy increased 8 percent last year, and tonight we're heading back to our council meeting, and we will be passing an 11.7 percent increase to our municipal levy.

So as our citizens make these requests for natural gas, it is difficult for us as a community to be able to address this on our own, and so we very much welcome the proposals that have been put forward by our provincial government.

Now, in a nutshell, what is our drawback?  What is our issue?  Why don't we have natural gas now given its proximity to our municipality?  Well, it is because we're decentralized.  We're spread over, like Sioux Lookout, over a large area, and so we don't meet the profitability requirements.

So that is why we are in support, yes, of a subsidy that will enable current Union Gas customers to pay a small subsidy in support of the expansion, the $24 per annum.

We think this is fair.  We think subsidies is a Canadian best practice with so many examples, starting with our national equalization and territorial transfer programs for specific policy areas, so there is industry subsidies, and then there is sector-specific subsidies.

But we believe that yourselves the Panel and industry are the ones that are well-placed to determine the amounts, to determine as well the collection and the disbursement method, so as to create win-win scenarios for all stakeholders.

We as a municipality, we intend to play a role in funding our natural gas project, and we have already adopted a resolution in support of a community improvement plan that will enable us to provide Union Gas with tax equivalent.  But we also look to the government to help us, in particular, the natural gas access loan program and the grant program, and we believe these are important to help maximize the number of new customers who convert to gas.

This is important to us, and I will be ending on these comments here because in our municipality, our median income, while respectful and at a good level in our district, overall the provincial average, we are below provincial averages.  So I think our customers, our community as they look to convert to natural gas, would welcome incentives.  Just as Premier Wynne recently announced, it will provide up to $14,000 in incentives to help drivers switch to electric cars.  So we're hoping that with the hearings, there will be support of government incentives to encourage customers to convert.

We look forward to moving forward with Union Gas.  We've -- through this process, we have been so impressed with this particular company and we wish to say that, because we find them very civic-minded.

We've -- in the past months they have been very quick to reply to all of our requests.  But not only that, we have seen their employees and how they have worked in a dedicated and committed fashion to try to respond to the OEB's February 18th request on ways to enable natural gas expansion.  And as an Ontarian, we feel it is important to support companies that are so proactive in our province.

So on that note, we thank you very much for letting us come forward to express our interests, and appreciate the time you have give us.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Ms. Rocheford and Your Worship.

MR. VREBOSCH:  Like I say, the document is in of you.  We have done the work; we’ve done the research.  We don't like to present anything -- in fact, I gave my staff – I said I don't care if you have to colour it with crayons; you never present anything without colour in it.  We even tabbed it for you and highlighted every section we want you to look at.

We're an aggressive community.  Our people are ready to take on natural gas through the CIP improvement plan that we have presented to Bob Chiarelli down in Niagara Falls.  I think it blew him out of the water we could show him the methodology to use this.

It will work.  We know how to do it, we have done the studies, and we can be your poster child.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much.

Okay, we have next the Township of Perth East.  His worship, Mr. Bob McMillan.  I will let you introduce yourself.
Presentation by Mr. McMillan:


MR. MCMILLAN:  Good morning.  Yes, my name is Bob McMillan, and I am the mayor for the Township for Perth East.  With me today is our chief administrative officer, Glenn Schwendinger, and Glenn has provided some correspondence to the OEB, and that letter was dated March 2nd, which I know you have.

So we are happy to be here, grateful for the opportunity.  We know that there are times when the province needs change, and we're grateful that the premier has indicated that there is need for change, especially in rural areas.

We are here --


MR. QUESNELLE:  They're connected.  So either button will run both microphones.

MR. MCMILLAN:  It should be good.  We were directed by council to be here, and this has been something that we have participated in for many years.  I have been on council for 13 years.  This has been a request from our residents for long before that.

The role of council is to represent the public.  The public have been asking.  The public have been surveyed by Union Gas.  They are overwhelmingly in support of this initiative to bring natural gas to the village of Milverton.

There is capacity in other areas, but unfortunately
the capacity has never existed to bring it to the village of Milverton.

So a little bit of who we are, I guess.  The township of Perth East is a rural township of approximately 12,000 people.  Our largest urban centre is the village of Milverton, just under 2,000 people.

We are probably, like most typical rural communities, the most predominant thing we have is agriculture and the associated businesses that cater to those needs, and so on and so forth.

I guess in any rural area, the most important things we have are the things we take for granted.  So in our area we have five schools, one of which is in Milverton, an elementary school, our long-term care facilities and all of the associated municipal entities: the pool, library, arena, community halls, so on and so forth, fire department.  But when we look at the costs to provide these services, we need to have other alternatives.  And I guess in this typical community, the average residential assessment is around $275,000.

Any help to any community would be greatly appreciated, when currently we are in a huge fiscal challenge, as many communities are.

As the previous presenter noted, we, too, will be passing a budget of 11 percent.  That is coupled with previous double-digit increases as well, since our funding formula from the province, through the Ontario Municipal Partnership Fund, has decreased 1.4 million dollars in the last four years.

So again, to find an opportunity for our residents to have a more economical heating source would be greatly appreciated.

The opportunities to save would be huge, but why natural gas?  Well we know it is more efficient than some of the choices that they have currently, being electricity, being propane.  They are cleaner than furnace oil.  There are also associated liabilities, that I am sure have been communicated to many that furnace oil will not be an acceptable item to use in the future because of the insurance industry's concerns with liability.  Those are happening in our communities now.

So part of the problem with this issue of natural gas to Milverton is it is a 20 kilometre pipeline necessitated from a mainline.  So there are certainly capacity in other areas all around us.  Unfortunately, nothing large enough, so that there lies our challenge.

But one other thing to note is that in all of the years that we have been involved in discussions with Union Gas, no one else has ever come forward with a viable alternative.

No one else has ever come forward with an alternative.  We have never been presented with another option.  So when Union Gas came a few years ago, the pessimist that I have become as a municipal councillor, I kind of blew it off, because any time we asked in the past, thanks for asking, but no, I'm sorry we can't help you.  But we're realizing the province has instituted a change, and we're hopeful that working with them we can see this happen.

So why is it so important to us?  Obviously the economic development opportunities exist in any community. But when people come and they ask about the infrastructure that the township in Perth East has, especially in a built-up area like Milverton, we can go through all that we have. But when it comes to natural gas, we say no, sorry, we're not serviced.  And they say, well, thanks very much, we'll see you later.

Currently right now we have two residential developments taking place at a rather – well, a glacier-like pace.  A hundred and fifty lots ready to go, but they are waiting.  They are waiting on word to know what will happen.

So when we talk about growth, our growth is rather stagnant.  If we had the ability to tell these developers gas is coming, we know exactly what would happen.  Shovels would be in the ground and we would be on our way.  That is just a small example of some of the things that can happen, because there are also other commercial industrial opportunities that exist and, again, faced with the same challenges.

So obviously, this is impairing our growth and economic development.  It is driving potential businesses away.  We've communicated this to the public and we have received quite a lot of support.  One letter that you have received is from the Milverton Business Association.  It speaks to the sustainability of the existing businesses and the potential to provide more opportunities for the residents.  So attraction of new businesses, new residents; that is very important to them.

Another letter that you have received comes from the Avon Maitland District School Board, and they also recognize the higher costs they're paying for propane versus what they could pay in natural gas.  They also highlight the supply issues that have been prevalent in a couple of our harsh winters where, while there are lots of competitors out there, the supply doesn't seem to always keep up to the demand, and there have been instances on numerous occasions where people have run out.

It also speaks in their letter from the school board to the higher capital costs and the higher maintenance costs of these propane HVAC units.  So again to them, it is a $20,000 per year cost savings that they would realize.

One of the associated businesses I mentioned was the Knollcrest Lodge; it is a long term care facility.  In their letter to you, they speak of their same issues of supply with propane, but their savings would be in the neighbourhood of $80,000 per year.  So for a long-term care facility to be viable going forward, $80,000 would mean a lot to them.

Knollcrest Lodge is also the township's largest employer, and we don't take that very lightly.  We have had numerous conversations with them over the years, and we try to help them in any way, shape, or form, and so we're happy to see that they have submitted a letter regarding their importance to this issue.

The township, of course, with all of its buildings, would see approximately $60,000 per year in savings.  Again, to a municipality that's been hit with funding costs the opportunities to save and pass this on to our residents would be huge.

So I guess what I'm suggesting is that I'm painting a picture of how desperate perhaps we are, but all around us people have access to natural gas, and why shouldn't we?  We are prepared to see it happen, because we're not asking for provincial funding, grants, or loans.  We recognize that there are mechanisms that can be put in place to allow this to happen.  And we respect the idea that there is some cross-subsidization.

But we are of the opinion that growth should pay for growth.  We are of the opinion that there should be some support cost recovery mechanism put in place.  And when we do speak of subsidization, we know that whatever form that people rely on, and electricity is one, that the only way it happens is if everybody pays.

So if a new subdivision happens they don't say, No, I'm sorry, we can't provide hydro to you, because that wouldn't be fair, it just happens, everybody pays.  And I think that it is only fair that in this scenario of natural gas coming, that everybody would pay, and everybody would be quite comfortable knowing that they could work together and benefit everyone as a whole.

So we are not asking for any special treatment.  We do recognize the unfair disadvantage to our economic growth that this is portraying to us when people come to us and say:  What do you have to offer?  Well, we have communities near us.  We're ready to go.  But unfortunately we can't help out until natural gas is supplied to our area.

So we believe, as I conclude here, that it is imperative that the OEB make changes.  It is vital to the sustainability and the future growth of our communities.  The Premier has sent a letter to me that indicates:

"Our government remains committed to working with you and working with all our municipal partners in their efforts to build strong and sustainable communities."

And that's really what this is about today for us, is that we can build our community and we can sustain what we do have.  As costs increase it is going to become more important that we concentrate on helping the residents that we have.

There is obviously a number of initiatives that have been taken in different Ministries to promote expansion of natural gas, and through the hope of changes rather quickly, we would get this province working, providing residents with jobs, and facilitating a little savings in their bottom line that they would greatly appreciate.  They have asked for it.  They're hopeful and we are hopeful too that we can see some changes in the province.

So we thank you for the opportunity.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Your Worship.

Any questions?  Okay, thank you very much.

We also have representation -- I believe, perhaps they're here, Mr. Viraney?  The Town of Edwardsburgh.  And I am afraid I don't have your name listed here, so if you could introduce yourself I would appreciate it.  Welcome.
Presentation by Mr. Sayeau:


MR. SAYEAU:  Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.  My name is Patrick Sayeau.  I'm the Mayor of the Township of Edwardsburgh Cardinal, a small rural township of about 7,000 people located at the junction of 401 and 416.  I have with me the CEO and the clerk of the Township, Deborah McKinstrie.  Deborah has been with the Township for about 23 years.

So we apologize for our tardy arrival, necessitated by our regularly scheduled council meeting last night, which meant we couldn't travel until this morning.

So we're pleased to have an opportunity to speak to the Board, hopefully to support what other municipalities are saying.

I am not going to regurgitate the evidence that we have already filed.  But I am going to speak in a broader context as to why we are here.

We're here simply because our residents want natural gas services.  That's what it all comes down to.  We have a franchise agreement dating back to 1977 between our township and Union Gas, and they've been a supplier of record in our township for that period of time.  The franchise agreement, as you know, covers the geographic area of the township, but the township still is not serviced because of the economic model that presently is used by the Board to determine costing as we understand the situation.

Now, the resident survey that was conducted along County Road 2 that we referred to in our evidence conducted by a Mr. Burkhart was acting on his own initiative, and it is evidence of the interest and outreach that our folks are making.  That's the second survey that's been conducted by private residences outreaching, trying to determine what they have to do to get service, the second survey in the nine years that I have been on the council.

I might say as well that I have been serving on municipal councils since 1978.  This is about my twentieth year.  So not all of my service is consecutive, nor is it all in the same township.  But I have seen a number of comings and goings, and I can recognize a groundswell of popular -- popular demand, I guess, if you want to put it that way.

So, yes, Mr. Burkhart's (ph) survey is a rather unsophisticated approach, but it is a serious attempt to put pressure on Union Gas without realizing that it is not the gas company but the regulatory regime which holds back extension of services.

We have a good working relationship with Union Gas over this last three- to five-year period, and I think we have come to understand the restrictions which prevents them from moving forward.

I am just going to indicate to you, our level of sophistication, I guess, is not that great, but we do take most of our understanding of the situation from the letter which our -- I'm having some problems here -- the letter which our -- Mr. Burkhart received from Union Gas in response to his survey.

And I am just going to quote from the letter so that you can see where our heads are.

"We have completed a preliminary survey of the economic feasibility of the proposed project using an Ontario Energy Board-approved model that takes into account the costs we expect to incur for the project:  Construction costs, plus ongoing operating and maintenance costs, as well as the revenues we expect to receive over a 40-year period for each new residential customer.  The OEB model determines whether a contribution is required from a customer to make a project economically viable and how much that contribution will be.  Based on the specifics of this project, which include running a 5,300-metre main pipeline extension along County Road 2 from Empire Hannah Road to Grenville Park and an estimated attachment of 50 new customers, there is an economic shortfall of over $800,000.  This represents an approximate $18,000 contribution from each new customer to make up the shortfall."

I am going to skip a paragraph.  The last paragraph I am going to read.

"In our experience, given the costs outlined above, the expansion of gas service to this area is not viable, and we have made the difficult decision not to extend natural gas service at this time."

And that seems to be the result that happens every time.  So I guess the point that we really want to make is that with those kinds of upfront costs, our residents just turn away, because in addition to the costs that they have to pay upfront to the gas company, they also have the cost of conversions in their own home that they have to take into account when they're figuring out whether this is a worthwhile connection for them.

So at about the same time that Mr. Burkhart performed his survey -- and it is undated, I admit, as is the response from Union Gas -- the OEB, your Board called for expressions of interest, that is to say proposals to facilitate enhanced access to natural gas for non-serviced rural and remote communities.

We were aware of that call.  We were also aware that Union Gas had made a submission and we had a high level of understanding, sort of not knowing all of the details, of the kind of relief that they were seeking from the regulatory regime which would cause them to give us this kind of a response.

So in our minds, we supported their request for relief or changes to the model, and I believe it is called the EBO 188 model, or that is the regime that we're working under.

And we understood that they were looking for four basic reliefs.  Number one, a charge on existing customers.  Number two, a surcharge on product over a period of time to get a pay back, foregone revenue to the township and some relief to the concept of a profitability index -- which we don't pretend to understand, but they obviously do.

So although we were not named in the Union Gas response to the Ontario Energy Board February 15th invitation, our township provided a letter of support in the belief that any relief from the regime -- which was obviously not working in our township -- would provide a new and expanded services, something would be better than nothing.  And we were happy to support their initial, their initial application which has now been suspended because of these generic hearings.

So it was the letter of support that we sent in support to their application that I guess gave us intervenor status to be here at this hearing today.  So it is obvious that the Board has opened a whole new set of opportunities, and at the same time that the province appears to be prepared with some new funding initiatives to assist and drive expansion of natural gas services.

So in response to issue number 6, are there other ratemaking or rate recovery approaches, we support, as a means of replacing upfront charges, the concept of partial deferral of municipal revenue and foregone revenues.  We think that that is an acceptable method of municipal participation.

We support the concept of surcharges on product cost to new customers.  That's to say over and above what the guy next door might be paying because his service has been there for the last 20 years.

And we also support the Union Gas request for changes to the profitability index requirements.

We have also mentioned some other mechanisms at our issue number 6 response, and have responded to Staff interrogatories on these concepts.

So we're here today to answer any questions and to restate our main premise.  Our residents are looking for the expansion of natural gas services throughout the entire township.  Basically, at this point, I would say we have less than ten percent of the township serviced under a franchise agreement which dates back to 1977.

So we thank you for the opportunity to appear here.  It is very short, but we had to add our voice to the voice that I am sure you are hearing from other municipalities.  Thank you very much.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Your Worship.  Again thank you for your travel in this morning to be with us.

Any questions?  Why don't we -- that is the last presentation from the municipalities that we have this morning.  Thank you all once again for coming forward and delivering your presentations in person.  It always adds the opportunity for us to ask questions.

I don't know if there is -- I think what we will do is take your testimony to be on the record.  Obviously, the comments of the municipalities were quite important to the Board.  That is why we set up this day, and others will be -- have come in in writing as well.

We've got two things we're going to deal with this morning; the presentation from the municipalities and also we will have a discussion about the actual process that we will follow in the hearing itself and the cross-examination, the intent to set up a hearing plan.

So why don't we take a break right now and return at quarter after 11.  People can put their minds to contributing to that conversation, and we will do that and that will probably be as far as we can take it today.  Okay.  We will be back at quarter after 11.
--- Recess taken at 10:50 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:20 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, please be seated.  I went for a short break and a gas expansion conference broke out in the room.

[Laughter]

There you go.
Procedural Matters:


Again, as I mentioned earlier, we would like to work towards creation of a hearing plan.  What we have in mind, as the interrogatory responses just were filed on Friday, we don't expect that people will have a good sense, today, of exactly, especially from a timing perspective and actually identifying who they may want to cross-examine, but we are asking people to take a look at the responses and by this Friday, noon, provide your list of parties' evidence, sorry, that you would like to cross-examine on and an estimate of your time.  And if you could forward that to Board Staff.

An e-mail will be going out that you can respond to.  Mr. Viraney will be putting out an e-mail shortly that sets that up for anyone who's not in the room, but if you could respond to that by Friday noon, that will give -- the Panel is going to work with Staff on the hearing plan.  If, for instance, there isn't a high level of interest in any one particular piece of evidence, we may have interest in it, and so we will work that into the schedule accordingly.

Keep in mind, given the nature of this, it is a generic hearing.  The idea is that the Panel needs to be informed of what the issues are and how people feel about their interests and how they want to describe it, so evidence in-chief, to that extent we will be looking for some executive summary level lead on the evidence from the participants that have supplied evidence to provide context to the panel and for the context for the cross.

So that is something we will work into the hearing plan itself, and we will gauge the amount of time for evidence in-chief from the amount of interest and our own interest.  So we will lay that out.

Other issues that we can discuss today are any restrictions on timing with people that have with -- as per witnesses and what-have-you.  We will certainly work that into the plan.  We will hear about it today.  And let's have a conversation about that.  But any of that information, if you could also supply that to Board Staff, and that will allow us to have a record of it and to work that into the hearing plan.

Ultimately -- we will go right to the next step, so we might as well -- today is our day for the conversation on these issues, so why don't we go to the next step as well.

At the end of the hearing we will be looking at a -- two rounds of submissions.  And we haven't really as a panel put our mind to whether or not we would ask Board Staff to lead on those two grounds, but our typical -- when we have a -- are hearing something on our own motion, we will have submissions from all parties, and when everyone has had an opportunity to review those submissions, another round of submissions in response to that.  That is our typical process, and that is what we would be looking at entertaining in this hearing as well.

And like I say, we haven't discussed as a panel whether or not we'd see merit in having the Board Staff lead a couple days in advance if those grounds are not -- and -- well, we just haven't put our minds to it.

So that is how we intend to proceed.  So I am interested in comments on that as well.

So just from a -- from the logistics of putting this together, any comments on that approach, having things in by noon on Friday?  Any difficulty with that, and identifying times, what-have-you, any comments on that?

Okay.  Any issues that you want to make us aware of now with timing of witnesses?  Mr. Keizer.

MR. CHARLES KEIZER:  Mr. Chair, if I may.  Sorry.  The one we don't have any issues with respect to --


MR. MILLAR:  I don't thick your mic is on, Charles, sorry.

MR. CHARLES KEIZER:  The light is on, but...

MR. QUESNELLE:  But there is no one home.

MR. CHARLES KEIZER:  Maybe there is no one home.

[Laughter]

Hopefully that -- is that working now?  Thanks.

So we're fine with respect to what you have just mentioned, but I did want to -- and I have alerted some of my colleagues today in the room and -- to this fact, and Mr. Millar, and that is, we have a scheduling conflict with respect to the availability of the Union witnesses.

Unfortunately, because some witnesses are out of the country and these scheduling plans had been in place prior to the Board's schedule, the Union witnesses can only be available on the 10th and the 11th, which is towards the end of the proceeding.  So I wanted to put that on the record to be clear.  I have already alerted some folks with respect to that, but that is one of the issues that we have.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you very much.  Mr. Keizer, and again, just follow that up in your memo to Mr. Viraney on that, and we will work that into the plan.

Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I too have a problem with witnesses.  I have one witness who is in Washington on the Thursday and Friday and is chairing a meeting of, I think it is the Canadian Energy Efficiency Alliance, on the Monday.  So we are only available also on the Tuesday and Wednesday for our panel.  And if it is possible to schedule us around that, that would be useful.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Great.  We will certainly attempt to do that, Mr. Shepherd.

Okay.  Ms. DeMarco?

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  For GreenField Specialty Alcohols, Mr. Creighton providing direct evidence is not available on May 10th and May 11th.  Anwaatin, the coordination agent SCS is canvassing all the First Nations in an attempt to get the schedule of availability.  We assume it is full right now, but that is subject to check, and we will get back to you on or before Friday.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Great.  Thank you very much.  Appreciate that.

Mr. Janigan.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.  Mr. Chair, as we indicated in our letter accompanying our evidence, one of our witnesses, Dr. Harritin, won't be available on May the 5th and May the 6th, and I wonder if that can be accommodated.  He will be available on May 9th, 10th, or 11th.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.

Anyone else that wants to give us a heads-up at this time?

MR. VELLONE:  Mr. Chair, the South Bruce panel has a variety of limitations on their schedules.  I won't get into the details, but they are available on May 9th and May 10th.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  If you can just pass that along then in your response to Mr. Viraney e-mail.

MR. ROSENFELD:  Mr. Chairman, panel members.  On behalf of Northeast Midstream, our expert, Mr. Gulig, who is in California, has had his schedule complicated, as have others.

And there are two requests I would like to put to you, Mr. Chair.  Firstly, that it would be possible in our view and perhaps desirable to follow up questions to Mr. Gulig in writing, proceed by way of written procedure, thereby saving time for the Board and for the experts' attendance.

And secondly, in the event that that should prove not desirable, then Mr. Gulig would be available on May the 11th in the morning, and because his presentation and cross-examination is likely to be brief, we hope -- think -- perhaps he could be scheduled as the first witness on May the 11th.  Again, our preference would be for a written procedure, and we invite your consideration of that.

Thank you very much.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Rosenfeld, the Board has used on -- seldom, but has used media such as Skype, what-have-you.  Is that something that you would entertain with your witness?

MR. ROSENFELD:  Yes, I'm sure it will be.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  And what --


MR. ROSENFELD:  I will consult with him --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

MR. ROSENFELD:  -- but we think so.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Well, leave that with us.  Any issues that anyone has with that type of arrangement?  Either -- if we can't do that, either written or another method of getting the testimony in?  No?  Okay.  Great.  Okay.  Leave that with us and we will respond with that.

MS. BRAZIL:  Good morning.  For the -- hi.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Hi.

MS. BRAZIL:  For the Canadian Propane Association, we just want to make the Board aware that one of our witnesses is not available on the last three hearing dates.  So he will only be available on May 5th and 6th, but we will provide full details in our response to your e-mail by Friday.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you.

You know, just thinking of -- this is going to become quite convoluted, which we anticipated.  That's fine.  If the -- what we're covering in the record today -- and I think, Mr. Viraney, we will start working on this, just using the transcript as the record of your comments, so this is helpful, but then reiterate them in your e-mails so we make sure that we have double-checked it and had some quality assurance on this.

Yes, sir.

MR. MELCHIORRE:  I am here on behalf of NOACC.  I would also like the same comments that one witness in our panel would prefer, if we can be on the first two days of the hearing, and we would also be open to the idea of Skype, if there is a conflict.  So we would also suggest that as well.  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Thank you very much.  That is very helpful.  Any other matters that people want to raise at this time?  Mr. Rubenstein?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Complicated matters even before the hearing starts.

We would just like the Board's views -- one of the issues that SEC is looking to potentially bring is a motion for better answers to some of the interrogatories.  As you know, the interrogatories only came in last Friday and we're reviewing them now.

But it is our belief that it is very likely that we're going to need to bring a motion to compel proper responses to some of them, and we would seek your guidance on maybe a schedule because of the short timeline for -- to do so and when that would need to be filed and responses would be required.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Part of that, I guess, Mr. Rubenstein, is you're not in a position now to provide your views on this.

What I would put forward is that the panel would be interested in perhaps hearing the views expressed in a less formal manner, as a first attempt as to why you feel that these are within the scope or what the shortfall of the responses are, and we would also hear from whoever you are requesting that information from, if we have the ability to do that here today.  And perhaps the panel can then determine whether or not they feel the need to have this evidence produced or not.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  There is a number of -- I can give you a preliminary view.

There is a number of responses from South Bruce municipalities and EPCOR, and I will focus first on the South Bruce municipalities regarding -- we sought disclosure of the responses from the successful proponent to its RFI, that is EPCOR, the materials that they had provided in that process, which South Bruce outlined in detail in its report, in its evidence.  The municipality has provided a report detailing the process it undertook and why it sought were the benefits.

As well we sought -- and in an interrogatory, we sought at a broad level, not seeking disclosure specifically, but asking about the responses that came in with respect to subsidies, what type of rate impacts, those sort of things were provided to get a sense.

The reason why we would say this is relevant information for this Board is, as the Board knows, some of the issues on the Issues List deal with putting in place, if the Issues List even uses the language of potentially requiring a RFI or what are the ways competition can be expanded and bring in new entrants.

And in place we have an example of one utility who has done -- one municipality who has done an RFI, and we believe it is important to get a full context of what was considered.  The information that was on the record and in other interrogatory responses we would say are simply, they're simply -- they don't provide enough information.

And this goes -- I raise this specifically with the EPCOR as the Board may be aware, franchise agreements have been signed between EPCOR and the three municipalities.  So those have been filed in EB-2016-137-138-139.

In those franchise agreements they specifically outline the terms of those agreements, but it includes a certain revenue stream from the utility back to the municipality.  We want to understand how that plays into this, because -- and I don't know enough information, so I don't want to say anything.  I don't want to imply anything of how South Bruce went about determining which municipality -- which utility to choose.  But if there is essentially -- one of the aspects was a revenue stream for it.

Well, that changes much of the evidence.  As you know, EPCOR filed evidence by Dr. Yatchew talking about the benefits of competition it brings in for municipal franchise agreements, as well as capital costs.

We want to understand how that works in the context of another -- if one of the actual things that was provided by the RFI is a revenue stream.  We think it is important and obviously relevant.

It is especially relevant, in addition, if the Board is setting up a regime which has a subsidy component, what are the types of restrictions it may want to put in place to ensure that if there is a competitive process and subsidies flow from company to company, if there should be some sort of restrictions.

There is -- similar questions were also asked of EPCOR and they were similarly refused.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  So there’s both; there’s EPCOR and there’s South Bruce.

MR. CHARLES KEIZER:  Mr. Chair, before -- I know my friend, Mr. Kaiser -- the other Mr. Kaiser -- wants to jump in.  But before he does, maybe I should have an opportunity because he may want to respond to my comments as well.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you.

MR. CHARLES KEIZER:  Like Mr. Rubenstein, Union also has, in its consideration of bringing motions with respect to compelling responses to particular questions in effectively the same area and the same questions that were with respect to EPCOR and Bruce, both with respect to the questions that SEC has asked, but also the questions that Union has asked for much of same reasons, particularly questions posed to EPCOR relating to the information that underlies the municipal franchise amendments or proposals that they intend to make with respect to the three municipalities in the current parallel proceedings.

One of the issues on the Issues List is that, should the OEB consider imposing conditions or making other changes to initial franchise agreements.  We now currently have in play in another proceeding actual changes to the municipal franchise agreement, which I think -- and circumstances relating to it, which I believe is, as I recall, paying a certain percentage of gross revenues to the municipality by virtue of granting the municipality.

The other is obviously one of the big aspects of some of the evidence that has been put forward is that the benefits and attributes of a competitive process.  And obviously the indicia by which an entity, one, selecting the participants is a very key factor, because ultimately the implications that it has for the ratepayer ultimately at the end of the day, and the nature of the choice made and the selection made, can be pre-emptive with respect to the costs that ultimately the ratepayer would pay, depending upon who you actually would select and what does that mean.

So here we have a process which has been completed, which is done.  They are obviously moving forward.  But effectively understanding the process and the basis and nature upon which those decisions are made, obviously are relevant to the public interest, relevant to the benefits or disbenefits for ratepayers.

And the understanding of that I think would be relevant to these proceedings, given both issues number 7 and issues number 8 that are on your Issues List.

Can I just have a moment?

Those are comments from Union in respect to the issues raised by Mr. Rubenstein, but also our desire to bring comparable motions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Keizer.  Mr. Kaiser for EPCOR?

MS. DeMARCO:  Mr. Chair, just in advance of that, I understand Mr. Kaiser may want to respond to GreenField's comments as well, which are largely supportive of Mr. Rubenstein's and Mr. Keizer's comments.  Specifically, as a large industrial customer, process does matter quite a bit to GreenField.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MS. DeMARCO:  And to ensure the process is open and allows for an apples-to-apples comparison and transparent, to a very significant customer is very important.  So the responses to those questions, again, will be very relevant to GreenField Specialty Alcohols.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Ms. DeMarco.  Anyone else that --


MR. GORDON KAISER:  Mr. Chair, if I can respond to Mr. Keizer junior?

I am referring in particular to the Union Gas interrogatories to EPCOR -- although, as Mr. Rubenstein points out, it does also relate to some SEC interrogatories to the municipalities.

In Union's case, they asked EPCOR eight interrogatories, only two of which have anything to do with the evidence in this case.  Which, in our case, is the evidence of Dr. Yatchew.  Six of them, interrogatories 2 through 7, have to do with evidence we filed in other in another proceeding, and they reference that evidence.

So it is our view that the evidence in another proceeding is not subject to interrogatories in this proceeding.  What is subject to interrogatories in this proceeding is the evidence filed in this proceeding.

And to put it simply, we don't think we should have to litigate the franchise issue twice.  There will be an opportunity to deal with that, and those questions will be dealt with at that time.

So I don't want to take up a lot of time today on this, because this will require more argument than you probably want to hear from.  I was going to just suggest procedurally if all of the parties might outline in this Friday e-mail the areas where they will be seeking further production, because we, ourselves, have some questions about Union's refusal to answer.

So rather than get into all of the details right now, I might say that perhaps if the parties could just add to your Friday e-mail those interrogatories in which they will be seeking further production from, and then you can figure out how those matters might be argued.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I guess the one thing that doesn't do for us, though, Mr. Kaiser, is eat up the next three days between now and Friday, if there is a way to advance on this.  The hearing does start next Thursday.

So if we find ourselves on Friday with a list of requests at that point for further information and then the Board turns its mind to it as to whether or not it feels that it needs it, or that it is within the scope, and then responds, and that starts off the chain reaction of several motions, then we will have several motions that we can't fit in before the hearing, which would be counterproductive.

MR. GORDON KAISER:  Let me suggest -- that is a good point.  Why don't we just argue it Friday?  All of the parties can give notice.  I suspect it is not just two applications for further production, but probably more than that.  And we could give notice tomorrow, and we can show up Friday and argue.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

MR. ELSON:  Mr. Chair, I should add that Environmental Defence -- this is Kent Elson here for Environmental Defence.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Oh, sorry.

MR. ELSON:  We are in a similar boat, in that we will likely be making a motion for further and better interrogatory responses, and I can address the issue, but for now I just wanted to raise that from a procedural perspective.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Can you identify the area that you would be looking at and perhaps who from?

MR. ELSON:  Yes, I can.  So the questions primarily relate to the projections made by the utilities about the expected decline in natural gas consumption that would be required to meet Ontario's greenhouse gas reduction targets.

And in our view, there have been some major organizations that have been predicting a need for pretty massive declines in the range of 40 percent by 2030.  And in our view that puts into question the economics of these projects, and also whether it makes sense to subsidize the expansion of a commodity, if it looks like we're soon going to be turning around and attempting to achieve a contraction in that same kind of commodity.  So there's some big-picture issues for this generic proceeding.

We're not suggesting to get into the weeds on this issue, but, you know, we think it raises some financial risks, and there is also the question of who should bear the risks if, for example, the conversion rates end up being much lower somehow in association with the need to decrease natural gas consumption over the next -- the near-term and the medium-term.

So we think that those are directly relevant issues and we're seeking further information from the utilities on their own internal predictions about potential declines in natural gas consumption.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Do you see that as -- the additional item of the announced cap-and-trade program by the provincial government, that that issue would be subsumed perhaps within that at a high level?  That with the impact of cap and trade as to what it may do for the throughput, the volumes of the throughput, is that -- or how have you framed the question?  Quite frankly, I haven't looked at your request for information.

MR. ELSON:  No, I wouldn't consider that to be subsumed with the general issue of the impact of cap and trade, although it is -- would be relevant to that as well.  But it is also relevant to the question before the Board as to whether to allow projects with a lower profitability index and whether there should be cross-subsidies, et cetera, and whether that makes sense in a climate where we're anticipating significant reductions in natural gas consumption in the future.

Now, we asked approximately -- or responses were received for under half of our interrogatories.  So I would need to get into a bit more detail, and I would like to -- I could do so in writing, and I could provide that quickly.

And I agree with the concerns about having an initial set of discussions followed by motions next week.  I think that is too late.

We can put our concerns together in a notice of motion this week easily, so that we will have time to address those either on Friday or in writing in the interim.  We are happy to address it in any way that the Board sees fit, but our view is that the sooner the better.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  I am going to hear from a few more people.  The panel is going to then excuse itself to have a short deliberation on this and then come back in, because obviously we're at a, you know, a fork in the road here that we're putting the hearing schedule, I think, at risk, but the best thing is to get the best decision, so we will do what is right.

But any other comments on the -- someone that might be seeking additional information and better answers to their information request?  Mr. Mondrow?

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I hesitated because, quite frankly, I have not read all the responses yet, but I know there are some responses to IGUA interrogatories that are not complete.  Whether I will be I instructed to pursue a motion or not I don't know.

And so I chime in perhaps as an outlier, and I certainly admire my friends who have been through all the materials and are ready to file notices of motion tomorrow.  I am not in that position.

I also appreciate the Board's concern for its hearing schedule commencing next Thursday.  There is a lot of information on the record, and as much as everyone would like Union to proceed with whatever projects it is given leave to proceed with, ultimately these are big issues that the Board faces.

So I guess I am raising both a reservation of rights in a sense, or at least in fairness alerting the panel to the fact that we have not been through all the responses yet.  I don't know what is going to come up.  We will obviously try to expedite that as much as we can.

But also a cautionary note I would like to add that as important as the hearing schedule may be at the moment these are significant issues, and urging the panel to, as I know it will, consider them in full and carefully, and that may well entail the need to reschedule some hearing days, it seems to me.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I also have not read all the interrogatory responses, but the ones I have read, I haven't got all upset about any of them yet.

However, I took Mr. Kaiser Senior to be saying -- to be saying that he was suggesting, let's not do formal notices of motion.  Let's simply provide the Board tomorrow with a list of interrogatories that we're concerned about and then come and talk about it on Friday.  It is sort of what you are doing here, except this morning.  And I am not sure that is necessarily a bad idea.

I take Mr. Mondrow's point that it means we have to do a lot more on these interrogatories today and tomorrow than we thought we might have to, but, you know, getting it less formal and then coming and talking about it seems like it might be a viable solution.  So I would support that.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, for clarification -- sorry, I didn't take, Mr. Kaiser, your comments that there would actually have people present on Friday.  I thought it was more in writing we would receive the --


MR. GORDON KAISER:  No, no.  What I said, sir, was that --


MR. QUESNELLE:  I misunderstood then, sorry.

MR. GORDON KAISER:  -- that we could give notice, as Mr. Shepherd says, without a lot of formality as to what questions we required further information on.  We can identify those and we can identify the reasons and we can do that tomorrow.

Now, I understand Mr. Mondrow's issue, and he will have to start reading, I guess.

[Laughter]

MR. MONDROW:  Keep reading.

MR. GORDON KAISER:  But I had in mind that Friday you would hear submissions and then you would retire and make a decision.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

Any other comments on this line of discussion?

MR. VELLONE:  Only because some of these motions seem to be directed at the South Bruce municipalities and their process.  It might be helpful just to review what has been provided to the panel to date.

You do have the RFI that the municipalities issued, as well as a variety of different business cases, studies produced by Union, as well as a report describing the process the municipalities went through.

We didn't see this Board's generic proceeding as an opportunity to second-guess the municipalities' decision as a result of that RFI process.  Largely what's been refused in these interrogatory responses are requests for copies of the proposals that were submitted to the municipalities or rationale for the municipalities' decisions.

We appreciate GreenField Ethanol's concern about a fair and open process.  Each of the municipal councils are -- do have council hearings in their respective jurisdictions.  They also have authority under the Municipal Franchises Act to issue franchises which then come before this panel for approval.  We didn't see --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Vellone, I don't want to open the door to having the motions argued.  If we could get to the point of motions.  And I appreciate you are giving -- supplying context, and I welcome it, but I think we are straying into your -- maybe a response to the motion that may be brought against South Bruce or to the Board for better answers from South Bruce.  So I can cut it off there.  I think we will just stick to the notion of the process in which we resolve a lot of these things, if that is okay.

MR. VELLONE:  In which case we are supportive of Mr. Kaiser's suggestion for Friday.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  All right.  Thank you.

With that I think -- why don't we -- and I am hoping that we can not have to take a lunch break.  I think -- why don't we come back at ten after 11:00.  I am looking at my co-panel members -- ten after 11:00 -- give us a chance to -- Ms. DeMarco?  Or ten after 12:00.  Thank you.  At ten after 12:00, and -- after we take some time to consider this, and we will respond then.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 11:52 a.m.
--- On resuming at 12:12 p.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.
DECISION


Okay.  So the Panel has made a determination on this, and this is our thinking on what will lead to -- most likely lead to a successful unwinding of the issues here.

By tomorrow end of business day, we would like people that are seeking further information, a list of the IRs in which they are seeking that further information on and reasons why they're seeking that, why they feel it is appropriate -- and this is the important part -- within the context of what we're doing here at a generic level, and the issues that have been determined, the subject matter that has been deemed to be in scope in this hearing.

I will speak specifically to the, Mr. Kaiser's comments with respect to EPCOR and existing file, that they have made an existing application and the content in that in the NFA.

If there are different contexts we would be doing here, we wouldn't be looking to grant relief in another application by review of evidence here.  So Mr. Kaiser, in your response to that -- I am sure you will respond to that, but I am using that as an example.

But if the information that you are seeking, particularly in the context of what we are attempting to accomplish here, which is establish a common framework at a policy level for these matters, they are not into the granularity of what we might be seeking in a relief for a construction, a project.

So we will be taking a view that, yes, directly that may have an impact, but that’s something that would be reviewed in an actual application at a later date.  So again, we're staying at a relatively higher level than the application level for leave to constructs, obviously.  This is a framework; it is a policy.  So keep that in mind when you are providing the rationale as to why you need that additional information.

By noon on Friday, we would like response from those that, to date, have not provided the information requested as to why you feel it is not appropriate, out of scope, confidential, not -- you know, germane to what the Board is viewing to make decisions on, not determinative.  Whatever you feel.  Provide us with that again in the context of what we're doing here.  We would like that by noon on Friday.

And this is where it’s going to get tricky.  You won't have an answer on that, but we're also asking you for time estimates and who you want to cross-examine and what have you.  But to the extent we don't want to have one bar the other.  The caveat, if you feel it is necessary, your time estimates and who you want to cross-examine and, as we talked about earlier, also provide, again in writing -- you have given it today, and we will have the transcript.  It is good to get an early heads-up, but also include in that the availability of your witnesses, so that we have kind of a double record of that so we can make sure we get it right.

Anything else from my co-Panel members that I may have missed on that?  Everything is good, okay.  Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  May I ask a question, Mr. Chairman?  I have to schedule witness prep for next week.  Do you have an idea of when the Board will tell us which answers will be required?

MR. QUESNELLE:  I will give you our best efforts will be undertaken obviously.  We are asking for it for noon on Friday for the simple purpose of being practical, the ability to meet here on Friday afternoon and go over it.

We will do our utmost to get it out on Monday.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  And that is what we will work towards.

What comes of our determination on Monday is in your hands after that.  We will provide our lens -- I think I’ve just kind of telegraphed it -- is going to be h what do we need in the context of this application for what we expect to be producing at the end of it as far as determinative matters around a framework.  And so that is the types of things we will be analyzing, and our analysis will include that when we receive your submissions.  Okay?

Mr. Millar, anything else that you have today?

MS. DeMARCO:  Sorry, Mr. Chair, just one clarification.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Certainly, Ms. DeMarco.

MS. DeMARCO:  You indicated that Friday noon is the timeline in response to the IRs from those who have it.  Is that also Friday noon for the timing for the list of time estimates and --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes, please.

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  We want to get started working on the actual hearing plan as well.  Obviously this is a response with the rationale as to why you still don't feel that the information -- if you have been swayed by the additional requests that come in and the information around why you want it, then respond that you can and provide the estimate as to when you will provide what information you intend to provide.  And that will also assist us in making a determination as to whether or not we need to expect further information.

But if there is a coming of the minds, a meeting of the minds rather on some of these issues, let us know in your response next Friday.

Mr. Mondrow?

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I don't know that we're going to be in this position and we will have to see what comes in by end of day tomorrow.  But if a party -- not IGUA -- were to raise a concern about further and better answers, and IGUA had a view on that position, i.e. the relevance of that material to the matters before this hearing panel, would it be safe for me to assume that we could also file, between the point of receipt of that additional submission and the noon Friday deadline, a comment on whether the information sought was appropriate?

In other words, is this just viewed by the panel as a lis inter parte, a matter between the two parties?  Or are issues potentially raised open for comment by others if they feel compelled to do so?

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think I speak for the panel.  We would weigh that.  Obviously, we want to hear from the people that have looked at this and have a general interest at their own request.  Otherwise, you would have it as well right up front.  We're expecting the schedule along the same timeline.

If there is support for that, I think a brief on that as to why you support it, why you think it is in scope as well in support of the other comments, but we don't want to start up a series of -- we're trying to balance things, Mr. Mondrow, as you can imagine, a series of you know, kind of – we’ve got short time frames here.  I’m thinking that by tomorrow, end of day, Wednesday, all day Thursday, we're hoping to get this wrapped up with something on Friday, which is a response to the initial response.

If we get something Thursday noon and someone is already working on a response to what they saw tomorrow, you know – it’s all kind of iterations.

So within reason.  So keep them brief if you are in support with your rationale as to why you are in support.  Anything else?  Ms. Spoel?

MS. SPOEL:  I think if you have something to add that is not the same reason the first – like, you know, if Mr. Elson says I think we need this for this reason, and IGUA's view is not only do you need it for that reason, but you need it for this other reason as well, that might be useful.

But really the less paper there is, the faster we can read it and we don't need the same argument sort of restated ten ways, which just drives up costs and takes up a lot more of our time as we try to go through it and our staff's time.  So let's try to keep it as succinct as possible.  So if there is something that you think has been missed as to a good reason why something should be produced that hasn't been put forward, I would say do it.

If it is just, yeah, we agree this is really important, don't bother.

MR. MONDROW:  Understood, and I appreciate your guidance, Ms. Spoel.

MS. SPOEL:  Try to keep it as concise as possible because it will be a long Friday afternoon.

MR. MONDROW:  I wasn't intending it for everyone to pile on one way or the other.

I'm sorry I wasn't clear enough.  But given this somewhat truncated motion process -- which is effectively, it seems to me, with respect, what this is -- there are issues being engaged including scope issues and -- but maybe it’s the cart before the horse.  I suppose if there is a compelling reason, IGUA can make its case at the time.  So thank you very much.

MR. ELSON:  I hoped this wouldn't be necessary, but I worry a little bit that in the responses, there may be new grounds for why an intervenor is not putting forward the information that we may want to respond to.

We have responses in the interrogatories and, in our case, they list one reason and it may be that in reply, there are other reasons that are listed that we would want to respond to.

Now, I don't want to draw out this process more.  One option would be that the responses come on Thursday, end of day, and give us half a day.

Otherwise, you know, we could in theory I guess scramble to get something to you if it is necessary.

I don't know whether it is going to be necessary, but I do know that for five interrogatories the response was the same -- the same response, and I worry that there will be other grounds that will come up that we will want to respond to.  It may not be necessary, but I will just raise it for the record at the moment.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

[Panel members confer]

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yeah, I think we have to go through this one step at a time.  And I think -- and again, I will go back to the purpose of this hearing.  It is a generic process.  It is on the Board's own motion.  We want to get this right.  We have framed it from the start.

I think that this panel is in a very good position to take a look at what the requests are, the type of information.  Thinking ahead, it will be generous in our determinations, but it's -- when I say "generous", I mean we don't want to close the doors off things that could be determinative for us at the end of the day, and we will caution ourselves that way.

But the -- so I think that we will cross that bridge when we get to it, Mr. Elson.  If we see a need to ourselves ask further questions as to the nature of it, we won't make decisions in a vacuum here.  We will take a look at the request and the response, and if we need further information from either the -- either of those parties we will seek it before we make a determination.

Okay?  All right.  If there is no other matters or any more clarifications required, I appreciate it.  It's been a kind of a different morning.  This is a different beast, and I appreciate everybody's willingness to assist the Board in getting it done in an efficient and effective way.

Thank you.
--- Whereupon proceedings adjourned at 12:24 p.m.
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